University of Wisconsin Milwaukee UWM Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations

December 2014

The Role of G-protein Coupled Estrogen Receptor (GPER/GPR30) in Hippocampal Memory and Cell Signaling in Female Mice

Jae Kyoon Kim University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.uwm.edu/etd Part of the Other Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Kim, Jae Kyoon, "The Role of G-protein Coupled Estrogen Receptor (GPER/GPR30) in Hippocampal Memory and Cell Signaling in Female Mice" (2014). *Theses and Dissertations*. 708. https://dc.uwm.edu/etd/708

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by UWM Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UWM Digital Commons. For more information, please contact open-access@uwm.edu.

THE ROLE OF G-PROTEIN COUPLED ESTROGEN RECEPTOR (GPER/GPR30) IN HIPPOCAMPAL MEMORY AND CELL SIGNALING IN FEMALE MICE

by

Jae Kyoon Kim

A Thesis submitted in

Partial Fulfillment for the

Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

in Psychology

at

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

December 2014

ABSTRACT

THE ROLE OF G-PROTEIN COUPLED ESTROGEN RECEPTOR (GPER/GPR30) IN HIPPOCAMPAL MEMORY AND CELL SIGNALING IN FEMALE MICE

by

Jae Kyoon Kim

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 2014 Under the Supervision of Professor Karyn Frick

The loss of estrogens at menopause significantly increases a woman's risk of memory loss and Alzheimer's disease because estrogens are essential trophic factors for the hippocampus. However, current hormone replacement therapies are not recommended to reduce age-related memory decline because of their adverse side effects. To develop better hormone replacement therapies, it is essential to understand the mechanisms through which estrogens regulate memory. Our laboratory has demonstrated that the ability of 17β -estradiol (E₂) to enhance hippocampal memory depends on the rapid activation of extracellular-signal-regulated kinase (ERK), which occurs through activation of ER α and ER β . The G-protein coupled estrogen receptor (GPER) is a novel membrane estrogen receptor, expressed in areas of the brain important for learning and memory such as the hippocampus. However, little is known about the role of dorsal hippocampal (DH) GPER in hippocampal memory consolidation and cell signaling. Here, the present study tested the roles of GPER in regulating hippocampal memory consolidation and cell signaling in young female mice. DH infusion of the GPER agonist, G-1, enhanced object recognition and spatial memory consolidation in ovariectomized female mice. DH infusion of the GPER antagonist, G-15, blocked the memory-enhancing effects of G-1, suggesting that

GPER activation mimics the beneficial effects of E_2 on hippocampal memory. Interestingly, however, G-1 did not increase ERK phosphorylation like E2, but instead significantly increased phosphorylation of the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) in the DH, suggesting that the molecular mechanisms underlying the memory-enhancing effects of GPER activation may differ from those of ER α and ER β activation. Consistent with this notion, DH infusion of the JNK inhibitor, SP600125, blocked G-1-induced memory enhancement and JNK phosphorylation, whereas the ERK inhibitor, U0126, did not. Finally, we showed that DH infusion of SP600125 or G-15 did not prevent E₂ from enhancing memory and activating ERK, demonstrating that the memory-enhancing effects of E2 are not dependent on JNK or GPER activation in the DH. These results indicate that GPER regulates memory independently from ER α and $\text{ER}\beta$ by activating JNK signaling, rather than ERK signaling. Together, the data suggest that GPER does not function as an estrogen receptor in the DH. As such, this study identifies GPER as a putative new target for reducing memory decline in menopausal women without the detrimental side effects of currently available treatment options

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Introduction
2	The hippocampus
4	Object recognition (OR) and object placement (OP)
5	Estrogen effects on the hippocampus
7	Estrogen receptors
10	G-Protein Coupled Estrogen Receptor 1 (GPER)
12	c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)
13	Aims
15	Materials and Methods
15	Subjects
15	Surgery
16	Drugs and infusions
18	Object recognition and object placement
19	Western blotting
20	Statistics
21	Results
21	GPER regulates hippocampal memory consolidation
23	G-1 does not activate ERK or PI3K/Akt signaling in the DH
25	GPER activation leads to rapid JNK phosphorylation in the DH
28	Activation of JNK is necessary for GPER to influence hippocampal memory consolidation
32	E_2 -mediated hippocampal memory consolidation is independent of GPER and JNK activation
37	Discussion
38	The role of ERK in GPER-mediated memory enhancement

- 40 The role of JNK in GPER-mediated memory enhancement
- 42 The estrogen receptor that doesn't act like an estrogen receptor
- 43 Further studies and conclusion
- 47 References

LIST OF FIGURES

- **22 Figure 1.** GPER activation enhances OR and OP memory consolidation
- **24 Figure 2.** GPER does not activate the ERK or PI3K/Akt signaling pathways
- **26** Figure 3. GPER activation increases JNK phosphorylation in the DH
- **27 Figure 4.** A GPER antagonist blocks the G-1-mediated JNK phosphorylation in the DH
- **29 Figure 5.** JNK inhibition blocks GPER-mediated memory enhancement in the DH
- **30** Figure 6. JNK inhibition blocks GPER-mediated cell signaling in the DH
- **31 Figure 7**. ERK inhibition does not alter the GPER-mediated cell signaling in the DH
- **33** Figure 8. E₂ increases activation of ERK, but not JNK, in the DH
- **35 Figure 9.** GPER and JNK inhibition do not affect E₂-mediated memory enhancement and cell signaling in the DH

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express the deepest appreciation to my advisor Dr. Karyn Frick for her guidance throughout this study. I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Fred Helmstetter and Dr. James Moyer for their comments and feedback on my project. In addition, a thank you to Dr. Marissa Boulware for her help conducting the experiments, and Julia Szinte for her help collecting behavioral data and analyzing data. Finally, I would like to thank Dr. Ashley Fortress, Jen Tuscher, and John Heisler for their academic support and advice for this project.

Introduction

The massive loss of estrogens at menopause significantly increases the risk of memory deficiency and Alzheimer's disease (AD) in women (Zandi et al., 2002; Yaffe et al., 2007). Out of the 5.2 million Alzheimer's disease patients, 3.4 million are women (Alzheimer's Association, 2012), and this number will continue to increase due to the aging of the baby boomer generation. In 2012, the costs of patient care for AD and other dementias is estimated at \$200 billion and are projected to rise to \$1.1 trillion by 2050 (Alzheimer's Association, 2012). Estrogen therapies can decrease the risk of menopause-related memory decline and AD in women (Yaffe et al., 1998; Zandi et al., 2002), however these treatments are accompanied by increased risk of breast cancer, heart disease, and stroke (Rossouw et al., 2002). The effects of estrogens in the hippocampus are important to study because hippocampus dysfunction leads to memory loss (deToledo-Morrell et al., 1988). Unfortunately, the mechanisms underlying the beneficial effects of estrogens on memory are not fully understood. These beneficial effects may be mediated by intracellular estrogen receptors (ER α and ER β) or membrane-bound ERs (e.g., G-protein coupled estrogen receptor; GPER) (Waters et al., 2011). Although some evidence suggests an important role of intracellular ERs (ER α and ER β) in memory formation (Liu et al., 2008; Frick et al., 2010b; Boulware et al., 2013), very little is known regarding the role of GPER in hippocampal memory consolidation.

This gap in our knowledge is important to address because manipulating GPER could provide the memory-enhancing effects of intracellular ER activation without cancerous side effects, as ER α and ER β activation are implicated in certain types of cancer (Deroo and Korach, 2006; Burns and Korach, 2012). Whereas nuclear

ER α and ER β expression increased or stayed constant during breast cancer progression (Filardo et al., 2006), GPER expression decreased, and other evidence suggests that GPER acts independently from ER α and ER β in cancer cell lines (Filardo and Thomas, 2012). Furthermore, GPER activation suppresses cell proliferation in ovarian cancer cell lines (Ignatov et al., 2013). Therefore, understanding the role of GPER in estrogen signaling may help resolve some of the controversies related to estrogen's involvement in regulating both cognitive function and certain types of cancer. Moreover, better understanding of GPER function could also provide important opportunities for the development of new therapies that would provide the cognitive benefits of estrogens while limiting potentially dangerous side effects.

Hippocampus

The hippocampus is one of the most researched structures in the brain. It is a bilateral medial temporal lobe structure that plays a central role in the functioning of the limbic system, due to its connections with the temporal cortex (e.g., entorhinal, perirhinal, and parahippocampal cortices), septum, and amygdala (Arushanyan and Beier, 2008). The primary cell type within the hippocampus is the pyramidal neuron, which are organized into a form of three-layered cortical tissue. The hippocampus in subdivided into several subregions, denoted as CA1, CA2, CA3, and dentate gyrus, based on morphologic and functional composition. Although the specific functions of the hippocampus remain subject to debate, most investigators agree that the hippocampus plays a critical role in learning and memory.

The famous case study of patient H.M, firstly published by Brenda Milner, first suggested the critical importance of the hippocampus for memory formation

(Scoville and Milner, 1957). After surgery of a bilateral medial temporal lobectomy, H.M. had severely impaired memory, although not all types of memory were affected. H.M. experienced severely impaired declarative memory; H.M. had severe anterograde amnesia as well as partial retrograde amnesia, on the other hand, His nondeclarative memory and short-term memory was preserved (Corkin et al., 1997). Therefore, H.M. study demonstrated the organization of memory in the brain, long term memory and immediate memory and the findings from H.M. motivated the efforts to study the neurobiological mechanisms underlying memory formation in animal models, such as monkey and rodent models (Squire, 2009). Two of the most well-known functions of the hippocampus are the generation of cognitive maps for use in spatial navigation and regulating episodic memory processes (Smith and Mizumori, 2006). Analysis of neuronal activity, by recordings of single neurons in the hippocampus, revealed that the hippocampus is involved in spatial navigation, as well as other abilities including detecting speed and direction of movement, match or non-match detection, and olfactory discrimination (Holscher, 2003).

To test functioning of hippocampus in rodent models, many behavioral tests have been established. For example, spatial learning and memory can be evaluated using several different methods, including the Morris water maze, Barnes maze, radial arm maze, T-maze, and Y-maze (Yuede et al., 2007). Our laboratory uses object recognition and object placement tasks to test hippocampal- dependent object recognition memory and spatial memory because these one-trail tasks allow us to link memory consolidation with rapid molecular events within the hippocampus. Moreover, these tasks can be conducted using the same apparatus and training procedures, permitting observation of multiple forms of hippocampal memory under similar testing conditions.

Object recognition (OR) and object placement (OP)

OR and OP have ben used extensively to examine hippocampal memory in rodents because they are sensitive to numerous factors, including hormones, aging, and drug treatments (Tuscher et al., 2014). Although the tasks can be run with anywhere from 2-6 objects, most protocols for rodents typically require them to explore two identical objects in a testing arena. During the training phase, these two objects are usually identical. For object recognition, memory is tested after a delay by allowing subjects to explore one familiar object that is identical to the training objects and one novel object. Mice who remember the familiar object will spend more time than chance exploring the novel object. For object placement, memory is tested by moving one of the familiar training objects to a new location in the arena. Mice who remember the training object locations will spend more time than chance exploring the moved object.

Both OR and OP are well suited for investigating hormonal regulation of hippocampal memory because these tasks take advantage of rodent's instinct, attraction to novel stimuli, without other potential variables influencing motivation. For example, the Morris water maze involves the stress of submersion in water and dry land mazes like the radial arm maze, T-maze, and Y-maze involve the stress of nutrient restriction. These stressors can induce physiological changes, including hormone level changes that can differ between males and females (ter Horst et al., 2012). In contrast, OR and OP involve only the subject's own intrinsic motivation to explore; it uses no nutrient restriction, provides no rewards, and it does not place subjects in an uncomfortable stressful environment (i.e., no water submersion, shock, or exposure to bright light). Therefore, OR and OP are ideal behavior tasks for studying the effects of hormone treatment on learning and memory. Despite some controversy surrounding the role of the hippocampus in object recognition, several studies demonstrate the importance of the hippocampus in regulating object recognition (Clark et al., 2000; Broadbent et al., 2004). In fact, one recent study suggests that inactivation of a very small portion of the total hippocampus can impair object recognition memory (Cohen et al., 2013). Furthermore, ovariectomy impairs memory in both OR and OP (Wallace et al., 2006), and as will be demonstrated below, estrogen treatment enhances OR and OP memory consolidation.

Estrogen effects on the hippocampus

Estrogens are a class of sex steroid hormones that are synthesized primarily within the ovaries and placenta, although smaller amounts of estrogens are also synthesized in non-gonadal organs such as the heart, liver, bone, and muscle (Cui et al., 2013). Estrogens influence many physiological processes via estrogen receptors (ERs), including reproduction, bone integrity, cognition, and parenting behaviors. The three major forms of estrogens are estrone (E_1), estradiol (E_2), and estriol (E_3). Of these, E_2 is most potent and biologically active. E_2 levels in the rat hippocampus are higher than in serum (Hojo et al., 2004), implying an important role of estrogens in the hippocampus. The earliest findings to demonstrate that E_2 regulates hippocampal function showed that dendritic spine density in the CA1 region in the female rat hippocampus is elevated when estrogen levels are their highest during the estrous cycle and that E_2 treatment reverses an ovariectomy-induced decrease in CA1 spine synapse density (Gould et al., 1990; Woolley et al., 1990). Exogenous E_2 also increases hippocampal neurogenesis and enhances various forms of hippocampal synaptic plasticity, including long-term potentiation (Foy et al., 1999; McClure et al., 2013). In general, estrogens have been shown to enhance hippocampal memory in menopausal women and female rodents (Duff and Hampson, 2000; Frick, 2009). Many studies have demonstrated that exogenous E₂ administration enhances hippocampal memory using a variety of tasks, including the Morris water maze, radial arm maze, and T-maze (Bimonte and Denenberg, 1999; Daniel and Dohanich, 2001; Wide et al., 2004; Bohacek and Daniel, 2007). As discussed below and in our recent review (Tuscher et al., 2014), E₂ facilitates memory consolidation in the OR and OP tasks as well. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying this enhancement are not well understood.

Using an ovariectomized mouse model, our laboratory previously demonstrated that post-training bilateral infusion of E₂ into the dorsal hippocampus (DH) enhances hippocampal-dependent memory consolidation in the OR task (Fernandez et al., 2008). Other work from our lab has shown that DH E₂ infusions also enhance hippocampal-dependent spatial memory in OP (Boulware et al., 2013). Although the role of the hippocampus in OR has been subject to debate (Gervais et al., 2013), DH lesions or inactivations demonstrate that the DH is essential for object recognition memory consolidation in rats and mice (Clark et al., 2000; Baker and Kim, 2002; Fernandez et al., 2008; Cohen et al., 2013). In our laboratory, E₂ is infused immediately after training in OR and OP, rather than before training, to pinpoint E₂'s effects on memory consolidation without affecting motivation, anxiety, or encoding during training. Infusion of E₂ three hours after training does not enhance memory consolidation (Fernandez et al., 2008), suggesting that E₂-induced hippocampal memory consolidation occurs within three hours of training. Vehicle-infused young ovariectomized mice show a significant preference for the novel object 24 hr, but not 48 hr, after OR training. However, E₂-infused mice exhibit enhanced memory 48 hr

after OR training, as indicated by their spending significantly more time than chance with the novel object. For the OP task, vehicle-infused young ovariectomized mice show a significant preference for the moved object 4 hr, but not 24 hr, after OP training. However, E₂-infused mice exhibit a significant preference for the moved object 24 hr after OP training. Thus, to test the memory-enhancing effects of drugs, we use a 48-hr retention delay for OR and a 24-hr delay for OP. To test the memoryimpairing effects of drugs, we use a 24-hr delay for OR and a 4-hr delay for OP.

Our laboratory has extensively studied the molecular mechanisms through which E_2 affects hippocampal memory (Harburger et al., 2007; Lewis et al., 2008; Pechenino and Frick, 2009; Fan et al., 2010; Frick et al., 2010a; Zhao et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2012; Boulware et al., 2013; Fortress et al., 2013b; Fortress et al., 2013a; Fortress et al., 2014). In particular, we have shown repeatedly that phosphorylation of the p42 isoform of the cell signaling kinase extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK) in the DH is necessary for E_2 to enhance OR memory (Fernandez et al., 2008; Fan et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2012). This activation is observed as early as five minutes after DH infusion of E_2 . The importance of ERK in mediating the mnemonic effects of E_2 was underscored by other work from our laboratory showing that rapid activation of the p42 isoform of ERK (p42-ERK) is required for histone acetylation alterations that promote the transcriptional events that enhance memory consolidation (Zhao et al., 2010). Although this work sheds light on the intracellular events that underlie the memory-enhancing effects of E_2 , the ERs that mediate these effects have remained somewhat of a mystery.

Estrogen receptors

Two types of ERs, intracellular ERs (ER α and ER β) and membrane ERs (e.g.,

GPER, ER-X) likely mediate the memory-enhancing effects of E₂. The intracellular ERs, ER α and ER β , have been cloned and are found in several brain regions including the hippocampus of the nuclei, dendritic spines, and axon terminals of pyramidal neurons and interneurons (Milner et al., 2001; Milner et al., 2005). When estrogens bind to ER α or ER β in the cytoplasm, they are dimerized and move into the nucleus where they bind to estrogen response elements (ERE) to initiate gene transcription (Cheskis et al., 2007). This so-called classic nuclear action of estrogens is considered somewhat slow because the cellular effects can take hours to be observed. However, ER α and ER β can also activate hippocampal cell signaling cascades within minutes, suggesting an alternative mechanism of action. Such rapid effects have been termed "non-classical" mechanisms. One established non-classical mechanism regulating involves interactions between ER α and ER β and metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR) to stimulate the phosphorylation of the transcription factor cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) (Boulware et al., 2005). Although studies using ER α and ER β knockout mice have suggested that the effects of E_2 on hippocampal memory are dependent on ER β , but not ER α (Liu et al., 2008; Walf et al., 2008), potential compensatory mechanisms after gene knockout throughout early development make it difficult to pinpoint the roles of each intracellular ER. Therefore, ER α -selective and ER β -selective agonists have been developed to differentiate the role of each ER to memory formation.

Recently, our laboratory used ER agonists to show that the intracellular estrogen receptors ER α and ER β can mediate the E₂-induced enhancement of object recognition and object placement memory consolidation (Boulware et al., 2013). Specifically, bilateral infusion of propyl pyrazole triol (PPT, ER α agonist) or diarylpropionitrile (DPN, ER β agonist) into the DH immediately after OR or OP testing enhanced object recognition and object placement memory consolidation. Like E₂, both PPT and DPN increased phosphorylation of the p42, but not the p44, isoform of ERK 5 minutes after infusion, and this activation was necessary for PPT and DPN to enhance memory. Because ER α and ER β are not integral membrane proteins, it is unlikely that they activate ERK on their own. Instead, we found that both receptors must interact mGluR1 to rapidly activate ERK signaling and enhance memory consolidation (Boulware et al., 2013).

As an alternative to intracellular receptors, E₂ may regulate memory by binding to membrane ERs (mERs). The existence of specific mERs has been the subject of intensive debate in recent years because they have yet to be cloned. Candidate mERs include G-protein coupled estrogen receptor 1 (GPER), ER-X, and Gq-mER. Despite the uncertainty surrounding the identity of the mERs, these receptors can be examined generally using bovine serum albumin (BSA)-conjugated E_2 (BSA- E_2), which is membrane impermeable (Taguchi et al., 2004). Unlike E_2 , BSA-E₂ does not activate estrogen responsive gene transcription (Watters et al., 1997). Instead, BSA-E₂ rapidly activates calcium signaling and ERK phosphorylation in vitro and in vivo (Carrer et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2011). In addition, our laboratory has found that infusion of BSA-E₂ into the DH of ovariectomized female mice enhances OR memory consolidation in an ERK-dependent manner (Fernandez et al., 2008). These effects were not blocked by an intracellular ER antagonist (ICI 182,780) (Fernandez et al., 2008), suggesting that mER activation can influence memory and ERK activation independently of intracellular ERs. Although informative, studies using $BSA-E_2$ do not provide information about which mERs are involved. Given the difficulty of identifying these ERs, it is therefore, challenging to target them

pharmacologically or genetically. However, the availability of agonist and antagonist drugs for the recently named GPER had led to an increasing number of studies aimed at understanding the role of this putative mER in memory formation.

G-Protein Coupled Estrogen Receptor 1 (GPER)

GPER is a G-protein coupled receptor, previously known as the orphan GPCR called GPR30 (Funakoshi et al., 2006). Although has been considerable debate about whether GPER is, indeed, a mER (Langer et al., 2010), there was sufficient evidence from peripheral tissues that the receptor's name was officially changed from GPR30 to GPER. GPER is expressed at high levels in the brain, including the hippocampus (Brailoiu et al., 2007). Within the hippocampus, GPER is localized within dendritic spines of excitatory synapses and peri-synaptic regions in CA1 hippocampal neurons (Akama et al., 2013; Srivastava and Evans, 2013). GPER is a seven transmembrane domain (7TMD) receptor that includes the heterotrimeric G protein subunits $G\alpha\beta\gamma$ (Filardo and Thomas, 2005). The $G\alpha$ protein is involved in regulating ion channels and membrane-associated enzymes, whereas the $G\beta\gamma$ -subunit plays a role in activating protein kinase cascades (Luttrell et al., 1999; Filardo and Thomas, 2005). Importantly, G proteins provide signaling mechanisms critical for the regulation of different mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Goldsmith and Dhanasekaran, 2007). Some studies suggest that activation of the SRC-like tyrosine kinase downstream of GPER can promote the induction of the MAPK pathway (Maggiolini and Picard, 2010), and that both E_2 and the GPER agonist G-1 increase ERK phosphorylation in pancreatic beta cells (Sharma and Prossnitz, 2011). However, other studies indicate that activation of GPER does not induce ERK phosphorylation in human vascular smooth muscle cells (Ortmann et al., 2011) and that ERK

inhibition has no effect on the ability of G-1 to induce DNA synthesis in human epithelial cells (Holm et al., 2011). Several other downstream targets of GPER have been characterized, including a SRC-like tyrosine kinase (Quinn et al., 2009), PKA via cAMP (Thomas et al., 2005), PI3K/Akt (Maggiolini and Picard, 2010), and the Notch signaling pathway (Ruiz-Palmero et al., 2011).

Interestingly, some reports have demonstrated that ER α localized at the membrane interacts directly with various G-proteins (Wyckoff et al., 2001; Kumar et al., 2007). However, potential interaction between GPER and intracellular ERs has not been examined. As mentioned above, whether GPER is, in fact, an estrogen receptor has been a matter of heated debate. Some investigators insist that GPER is not a true ER, but potentially has a collaborative role in mediating the biological actions of estrogens (Levin, 2009). Although this issue has not yet been resolved for neural tissue, evidence in peripheral tissues suggests that GPER binds E₂ with a high affinity (Thomas et al., 2005), prompting the name change from GPR30 to GPER.

The contribution of GPER to hippocampal memory formation is not well established. However, some pharmacological studies have examined the role of GPER in memory processes using systemic injections of the GPER agonist, G-1, and antagonist, G-15. G-1 is a selective agonist for GPER that does not bind ER α and ER β at concentrations up to 10 μ M *in vitro* (Bologa et al., 2006; Blasko et al., 2009) and G-15 is selective antagonist for GPER that also does not bind to ER α and ER β at concentrations up to 10 μ M *in vitro* using COS7 cells (fibroblast-like cells) (Dennis et al., 2009). One recent study showed that chronic systemic treatment with G-1 mimics the beneficial effects of E₂ on spatial working memory in young female rats (Hammond et al., 2009). In contrast to G-1, systemic treatment with G-15 impairs spatial working memory in young female rats (Hammond and Gibbs, 2011). Although these studies suggest that GPER regulates hippocampal memory, their use of systemic injections do not permit definitive conclusions about the role of hippocampal GPER in memory formation. To address this issue, this thesis employed direct DH infusions of G-1 and G-15 to pinpoint the role of hippocampal GPER in memory consolidation.

c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK)

G-proteins like GPER can activate numerous cell-signaling cascades. As will be discussed below, our results led us to examine cascades other than ERK, including the JNK signaling pathway. Like ERK, JNK belongs to the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) family and has a kinase signaling cascade structure in which mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MKK) 4 and MKK7 are direct activators of JNK (Haeusgen et al., 2009). JNK has more than 60 substrates, including a variety of nuclear transcription factors such as c-Jun, ATF2, and Elk-1, as well as cytoplasmic substrates such as cytoskeletal proteins and mitochondrial proteins like Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl (Antoniou and Borsello, 2012).

JNK has most often been studied in the context of cellular stress and apoptosis related to heat shock or DNA damage (Kyriakis and Avruch, 2001; Reinecke et al., 2013). In the nervous system, JNK plays an important role in synaptic plasticity, neuronal regeneration, and brain development (Tararuk et al., 2006; Waetzig et al., 2006). Evidence has also suggested that JNK activity is involved in the regulation of the post-synaptic density protein called post-synaptic density-95 (PSD-95) (Kim et al., 2007). Interactions between GPER and PSD-95 have been identified in hippocampal dendritic spines (Akama et al., 2013), suggesting a possible link between JNK and GPER at the synaptic membrane. Much less is known, however, about JNK's role in learning and memory. Studies of JNK inhibitor-treated mice suggest a facilitative role of JNK activation in long-term inhibitory avoidance memory and neuroprotective effects in hippocampal neurons (Bevilaqua et al., 2007; Carboni et al., 2008). In addition, a study using JNK1-deficient (JNK1-/-) mice found that JNK1 may play a crucial role in short-term synaptic plasticity and mGluRdependent long-term depression (Li et al., 2007). However, other data indicate that JNK inhibition in the hippocampus enhances short-term memory (Bevilaqua et al., 2003), suggesting that JNK may also negatively regulate memory. Therefore, the role of JNK signaling in hippocampal memory formation is unclear. Furthermore, nothing is known about whether JNK signaling is involved estrogenic regulation of the hippocampus or memory. As such, the role of JNK in mediating the effects of E₂ or GPER on memory was of interest in this thesis.

Aims

Given the uncertainty surrounding the role of the putative mER GPER in memory formation, the primary goals of this thesis were to pinpoint the role of GPER in regulating hippocampal object recognition and spatial memory consolidation and determine the molecular mechanisms underlying this regulation. To achieve these goals, we conducted a series of studies in which we infused a GPER agonist or antagonist directly into the DH of ovariectomized mice immediately after training in the OR and OP tasks.. We found that GPER regulates both object recognition and spatial memory consolidation, but that these effects were dependent on JNK, but not ERK activation in the DH. Next, we found that the memory-enhancing effects of E₂ were not dependent on JNK or GPER activation in the DH. Collectively, these data suggest that GPER enhances hippocampal memory consolidation by activating different cell signaling cascades than E_2 . As such, GPER does not appear to function as a mER in the hippocampus.

Materials and Methods

Subjects

Subjects were female C57BL/6 mice (8-10 weeks of age) purchased from Taconic Biosciences (Cambridge City, IN). After surgery, mice were singly housed in a room with a 12-hour light/dark cycle, and were allowed *ad libitum* access to food and water. All behavioral testing was performed between 9 am and 6 pm in a quiet room with dim lights. All procedures were approved by the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, and followed policies set forth by the National Institutes of Health *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals*.

Surgery

At least one week prior to behavioral testing, mice were bilaterally ovariectomized and implanted with chronic indwelling guide cannuale within the same surgical session as previously described (Boulware et al., 2013; Fortress et al., 2013b; Fortress et al., 2014). Mice were anesthetized with isoflurane gas (2% isoflurane in 100% oxygen) and secured in a stereotaxic apparatus (Kopf Instruments). Following ovariectomy, mice were implanted with guide cannulae (22 gauge, C232G, Plastics One) into the DH (-1.7 mm AP, \pm 1.5 mm ML, -2.3 mm DV) or DH and dorsal third ventricle (intracerebroventricular (ICV); -0.9 mm AP, \pm 0.0 mm ML, -2.3 mm DV) as previously performed (Boulware et al., 2013; Fortress et al., 2013b; Fortress et al., 2014). Dummy cannulae (C232DC, Plastics One) were inserted into all guide cannulae to preserve patency of the guide cannulae. Cannulae were fixed to the skull with dental cement (Darby Dental Supply) that served to close the wound. Mice were allowed 7 days to recover from surgery before the start of behavioral testing.

Drugs and infusions

During infusions, mice were gently restrained and dummy cannulae were replaced with an infusion cannula (C3131; DH: 28 gauge, extending 0.8 mm beyond the 1.5 mm guide; ICV: 28 gauge, extending 1.0mm beyond the 1.8 mm guide) attached to PE20 polyethylene tubing that was mounted on a 10 µl Hamilton syringe. Infusions were controlled by a microinfusion pump (KDS Legato 180; KD Scientific). All infusions were conducted immediately post-training at a rate of 0.5 µl/minute in the DH or $1 \mu l/2$ minutes into the dorsal third ventricle as described previously (Boulware et al., 2013; Fortress et al., 2013b; Fortress et al., 2014). Infusion cannulae remained in place for 1 min after each infusion to prevent diffusion back up the cannula track. For studies in which E₂ or G-1 was administered in combination with G-15 or a cell-signaling inhibitor, the antagonist or cell-signaling inhibitor was first infused bilaterally into the DH and then E₂ or G-1 was infused ICV immediately afterwards. We routinely use this triple infusion protocol to prevent possible tissue damage from two DH infusions in rapid succession (Fernandez et al., 2008; Fan et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2012; Boulware et al., 2013; Fortress et al., 2013b). This protocol allows us to infuse estrogenic compounds adjacent to the DH while inhibiting receptor or cell-signaling activation directly within the DH.

G-1, 1-[4-(6-bromobenzo[1,3]dioxol-5yl)-3a,4,5,9b-tetrahydro-3Hcyclopenta [c]quinolin-8-yl]-ethanone (Azano biotech) was dissolved in 16% dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) and infused at doses of 2 or 4 ng/hemisphere into the DH or 8 ng ICV. G-1 is a selective agonist for GPER that does not bind ERα and ERβ at concentrations up to 10 μ M *in vitro* (Bologa et al., 2006; Blasko et al., 2009). The vehicle control for G-1 was 16% DMSO in 0.9% saline. G-15, (3aS*,4R*,9bR*)-4-(6-Bromo-1,3-benzodioxol-5-yl)-3a,4,5,9b-3H-cyclopenta[c]quinoline (Azano biotech) was dissolved in 2% DMSO and infused at doses of 1.85, 3.7, and 7.4 ng/hemisphere into the DH. G-15 is selective antagonist for GPER that also does not bind to ER α and ER β at concentrations up to 10 μ M *in vitro* (Dennis et al., 2009). The vehicle control for G-15 was 2% DMSO in 0.9% saline.

Cyclodextrin-encapsulated E₂ (Sigma-Aldrich) was dissolved in 0.9% saline and infused at doses of 5 µg/hemisphere into the DH or 10 µg ICV (Zhao et al., 2012; Boulware et al., 2013). The vehicle control for E_2 was 2-hydroxypropyl- β cyclodextrin (HBC, Sigma-Aldrich), dissolved in 0.9% saline using the same amount of cyclodextrin as E₂ for infusions. The JNK inhibitor SP600125 (Anthra[1,9cd]pyrazol-6(2H)-one, Sigma-Aldrich) was dissolved in 2% DMSO and infused at doses of 0.11, 0.55, and 2.75 ng/hemisphere into the DH. SP600125 is a selective inhibitor for JNK that does not affect ERK and p38 at concentrations below $10 \,\mu M$ (Bennett et al., 2001). The vehicle control for SP600125 was 2% DMSO in 0.9% saline. The MEK inhibitor U0126 (1,4-diamino-2,3-dicyano-1,4-bis (oaminophenylmercapto) butadiene, Promega) was dissolved in 25% DMSO and infused at a dose of 0.5 µg/hemisphere into the DH. This dose does not impair OR and OP memory by itself (Fernandez et al., 2008; Boulware et al., 2013), and therefore, any effects of this drug in combination with E_2 or G-1 cannot be attributed to a general memory impairing effect of this compound. The vehicle control for U0126 was 25% DMSO in 0.9% saline.

Object recognition and object placement

OR and OP were conducted to examine hippocampus-dependent object recognition and spatial memory. Both tasks have been shown to involve dorsal hippocampal function (Baker and Kim, 2002; Luine et al., 2003; Frye et al., 2007; Cohen et al., 2013) and are sensitive to E₂ treatment (Gresack and Frick, 2006; Zhao et al., 2010). Before the start of behavioral training, mice were handled (1 min/day) for three days to acclimate them to the experimenters. They were also familiarized with objects by placing a small Lego not used during testing in their home cage. At the start of training, mice were habituated to the empty white arena (width, 60 cm; length, 60 cm; height, 47 cm) by allowing them to explore for five min/day for two consecutive days. On third day, mice were habituated for two minutes in the arena, and then placed in a holding cage while two identical objects were placed near the northwest and northeast corners of the arena. Mice were then returned to the arena and allowed to freely explore the objects until they accumulated 30 s of investigation. Immediately after this training, mice were infused and then returned to their home cage. After 24 or 48 h, memory was tested by allowing mice to accumulate 30 s exploring a novel object and an object identical to the familiar training objects. Time spent with the objects was recorded using by ANYmaze tracking software (Stoelting). Because mice inherently prefer novelty, mice who remember the familiar object spend more time investigating the novel object than chance (15 s). Vehicle-infused mice do not remember the familiar object 48 h after training (Gresack et al., 2007), so we used this delay to test the memory enhancing effects of E₂ and G-1. However, vehicleinfused females do remember the familiar object 24 h after training (Gresack et al., 2007), so this shorter delay was used to test for potential memory impairing effects of G-15 and cell-signaling inhibitors.

The OP task used the same apparatus and general procedure as OR, but instead of substituting a novel object for a training object during testing, one familiar object was moved to the Southeast or Southwest corner of the testing arena. Because vehicle-infused females remember the original object placement after 4 h, but not 24 h(Boulware et al., 2013), we used the 24-h delay to test memory enhancing effects of E_2 and G-1 and the 4-h delay to test memory impairing effects of G-15 and cellsignaling inhibitors. Two weeks separated OR and OP testing to allow acute effects of the drug infusions to dissipate prior to the next infusion (n = 6-12/group).

Western blotting

Western blotting was performed as described previously (Fernandez et al., 2008; Boulware et al., 2013). To determine the effects of G-1 on DH cell signaling, mice were cervically dislocated and decapitated, and the dorsal hippocampus was dissected bilaterally 5, 15, or 30 min after infusion and stored at -80°C until homogenization. To determine the effects of E₂, GPER compounds, and cell-signaling inhibitors on DH cell signaling, the DH was dissected bilaterally 5 min after infusion. DH tissues were resuspended 50 µl/mg in lysis buffer and homogenized by sonication (Branson Sonifier 250). Proteins were then electrophoresed on 10% Tris-HCl precast gels (Bio-Rad) and transferred to PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad). Western blots were blocked with 5% skim milk and incubated with primary antibodies (phospho-ERK, phospho-Akt, phospho-PI3K, phospho-JNK, and phospho-ATF2, 1:1000; Cell Signaling Technology) overnight. Blots were then incubated with the appropriate HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (1:5000; Cell Signaling), and developed using West Dura chemiluminescent substrate (Pierce). A ChemiDocMP gel imager (Bio-Rad) was used for signal detection of protein expression. Densitometry was performed

using Carestream Molecular Imaging Software (Carestream Healthcare). Blots then were stripped with 0.2M NaOH and incubated with antibodies (total-ERK, total-Akt, total-PI3K, and total-JNK, 1:1000; β -actin, 1:5000; Cell Signaling Technology) for protein normalization. Data were represented as immunoreactivity percent of vehicle controls. Treatment effects were measured within single gels (n = 5-8/group).

Statistics

For OR and OP data, one-sample *t*-tests were conducted using SPSS (IBM, Armonk, NY) to determine if each group spent more time than chance (15 s) exploring the novel or moved object (Gresack and Frick, 2003). Western blotting data were analyzed in GraphPad Prism 6 (La Jolla, CA) using one-way ANOVA followed by Fisher's LSD posthoc tests and selected *t*-tests . Significance was determined at p < 0.05.

Results

GPER regulates hippocampal memory consolidation

We first infused the GPER agonist G-1 into the DH to determine if activation of GPER in the DH enhances object recognition and object placement memory consolidation in a manner similar to E₂. Mice received bilateral DH infusion of vehicle (16% DMSO) or on of two doses of G-1 (2 or 4 ng/hemisphere) immediately after OR training. Forty-eight hours later, mice infused with vehicle of 2 ng G-1 spent no more time with the novel object than chance (15 s). In contrast, mice infused with 4 ng/hemisphere of G-1 spent more time exploring the novel object than chance ($t_{(8)} =$ 2.56, p = 0.03; Fig.1A), suggesting that 4 ng G-1 enhanced object recognition memory consolidation. Two weeks after OR testing, mice were trained in OP and then were immediately infused with vehicle, 2 ng G-1, or 4 ng G-1. Twenty-four hours later, mice infused with vehicle or 2 ng G-1 did not exhibit a preference for the moved object. However, as in OR, mice receiving 4 ng/hemisphere of G-1 spent significantly more time than chance with the moved object ($t_{(9)} = 3.81$, p = 0.004; Fig. 1B), demonstrating enhanced spatial memory consolidation.

Because these data suggest that activation of GPER facilitates hippocampal memory consolidation, we next examined effects of GPER antagonism on memory consolidation. Immediately after OR or OP training, mice received bilateral DH infusion of vehicle (2% DMSO) or one of three doses of G-15 (1.85, 3.7, or 7.4 ng/hemisphere). Mice receiving vehicle ($t_{(8)} = 3.52$, p = 0.008) or 1.85 ng/hemisphere of G-15 ($t_{(7)} = 3.32$, p = 0.013) showed preference for the novel object 24 h after OR training suggesting intact object recognition memory after treatment with a low dose of G-15. In contrast, mice receiving 3.7 ($t_{(8)} = 2.02$, p = 0.08) or 7.4 ($t_{(6)} = 0.89$, p = 0.41) ng/hemisphere of G-15 did not (Fig. 1C), suggesting that these doses impaired



Figure 1. GPER activation enhances OR and OP memory consolidation. *A*, Mice receiving DH infusion of 4 ng/hemisphere G-1 (but not vehicle or 2 ng G-1) spent more time than chance (dashed line at 15 s) with the novel object 48 hr after training, indicating enhanced memory for the familiar object (n = 6-9/group). *B*, Similarly, mice infused with 4 ng G-1, but not vehicle or 2 ng G-1, spent significantly more time with the moved object than chance 24 h after OP training, indicating enhanced spatial memory (n = 9-10/group). *C*, Mice receiving 3.7 or 7.4 ng/hemisphere G-15 exhibited impaired OR memory consolidation 24 h after DH infusion, whereas mice receiving vehicle or 1.85 ng G-15 did not (n = 7-9/group). *D*, In OP, 7.4 ng G-15 impaired spatial memory consolidation 4 h after DH infusion, but no other dose of G-15 affected memory (n = 6-9/group). *E*, *F*, ICV infusion of 4 ng/hemisphere G-1 significantly enhanced OR (*E*) and OP (*F*) memory tested 48 h and 24 h after infusion, respectively (n = 8-11/group). However, DH infusion of 1.85 ng/hemisphere G-15 abolished these effects, suggesting that activation of GPER is necessary for G-1-mediated hippocampal memory enhancement. Each bar represents the mean \pm SEM time spent with the novel or moved object (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 relative to chance)..

object recognition memory consolidation. In OP, mice receiving DH infusion of vehicle ($t_{(8)} = 2.62$, p = 0.03), 1.85 ng G-15 ($t_{(7)} = 3.32$, p = 0.013), or 3.7 ng G-15 ($t_{(8)} = 2.02$, p = 0.08) spent significantly more time than chance (15 s) with the moved object, whereas mice infused with 7.4 ng G-15 did not (Fig. 1D). That only the high dose of G-15 impaired spatial memory consolidation suggests that spatial memory may be less sensitive to the effects of G-15 antagonism. that 1.85 ng/hemisphere of G-15 did not impair memory consolidation on its own and GPER inhibition impairs hippocampal memory although the sensitivity of task is a little bit different.

Finally, to confirm that G-15 acts as a GPER antagonist, we examined whether G-15 could block the memory-enhancing effects of G-1. To this end, we infused 8 ng G-1 into the dorsal third ventricle because bilateral infusion of 4 ng/hemisphere G-1 enhanced memory in both tasks. We also infused 1.85 ng/ hemisphere G-15 into the DH because this dose had no detrimental effects on memory in both tasks. Immediately after training in each task, mice received a DH infusion of vehicle (2% DMSO) or G-15 (1.85 ng/hemisphere) followed immediately by an ICV infusion of vehicle (16% DMSO) or G-1 (8 ng). OR and OP retention were tested 48 and 24 hours later, respectively. In both tasks, G-15 blocked the memory enhancing effects of G-1 (Fig. 1E,F). Only mice receiving G-1 + vehicle showed a significant preference for the novel object ($t_{(7)} = 2.68$, p = 0.032; Fig 1E) and moved object ($t_{(8)} =$ 2.46, p = 0.04; Fig 1F). These results demonstrate that GPER activation is necessary for G-1 to enhance hippocampal memory consolidation in female mice, and suggest that GPER regulates both object recognition and spatial memory consolidation.

G-1 does not activate ERK or PI3K/Akt signaling in the DH

We have previously shown that the enhanced memory consolidation induced by DH infusion of E_2 or agonists of ER α and ER β is dependent on DH p42 ERK phosphorylation (Fernandez et al., 2008; Boulware et al., 2013). To determine whether GPER also enhances memory by activating p42 ERK, we first measured the effects of GPER activation on ERK phosphorylation. Mice received bilateral DH infusion of 4 ng G-1 and the DH was dissected bilaterally 5, 15, or 30 min later.



<u>Figure 2</u>. GPER does not activate the ERK or PI3K/Akt signaling pathways. *A*, G-1 (4 ng/hemisphere) infusion did not increase DH p42 and p44 ERK phosphorylation relative to vehicle 5, 15, or 30 min after DH infusion. *B*, G-1 infusion significantly reduced Akt phosphorylation levels in the DH 30 min after infusion. *C*, G-1 infusion did not alter PI3K phosphorylation relative to vehicle 5, 15, or 30 min after DH infusion. Each bar represents the mean \pm SEM percent change from vehicle controls (**p* < 0.05 relative to vehicle). Insets are representative Western blots. (n = 5/group).

In contrast to E₂(Fernandez et al., 2008; Boulware et al., 2013), G-1 infusion did not significantly increase levels of phospho-p42 ERK at any time point examined ($F_{(3,16)} = 0.72$; Fig. 2A). G-1 also did not affect levels of phospho-p44 ERK ($F_{(3,16)} = 3.07$; Fig. 2A). We then examined activation of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway because we have previously demonstrated that activation of this signaling pathway is necessary for E₂ to activate ERK and enhance OR memory consolidation in young and middle-aged female mice (Fan et al., 2010; Fortress et al., 2013b). However, G-1 did not significantly increase levels of phospho-Akt ($F_{(3,16)} = 3.94$, p > 0.05; Fig. 2B) or phospho-PI3K ($F_{(3,16)} = 0.68$; p > 0.05; Fig. 2C). In fact, G-1 decreased levels of phospho-Akt 30 min after infusion (Fig. 2B). Collectively, these data show that GPER activation does not activate ERK or PI3K/Akt signaling in the DH and suggest that the effects of GPER activation on DH cell signaling are different from those of E₂ or ER agonists.

GPER activation leads to rapid JNK phosphorylation in the DH

We next investigated whether GPER activation could phosphorylate c-Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK) in the DH. As a seven transmembrane domain receptor, GPER is comprised of heterotrimeric G protein subunits $G\alpha\beta\gamma$ (Filardo and Thomas, 2005), and the G $\beta\gamma$ -subunit plays a role in activating protein kinase cascades such as ERK and JNK (Luttrell et al., 1999; Filardo and Thomas, 2005; Goldsmith and Dhanasekaran, 2007). Moreover, JNK is known to play an important role in synaptic plasticity, neuronal regeneration, and brain development (Tararuk et al., 2006; Waetzig et al., 2006). Therefore, we thought it possible that GPER might activate one or both of the two JNK isoforms (p46 and p54). Mice bilaterally infused into the DH with vehicle or 4 ng G-1 exhibited a significant increase in the phosphorylation of



<u>Figure 3</u>. GPER activation increases JNK phosphorylation in the DH. *A*,*B*, DH infusion of G-1 (4 ng/hemisphere) significantly increased phosphorylation of the JNK p46 isoform (*A*) and p54 isoform (*B*) within 5 min. Levels returned to baseline 15 min later. *C*, Similarly, G-1 infusion significantly increased phosphorylation of the downstream JNK transcription factor ATF2 in the DH 5 min after infusion. (n = 5/group).

both the p46 ($F_{(3,16)} = 13.46$, p < 0.001; Fig. 3A) and p54 ($F_{(3,16)} = 6.335$, p < 0.01; Fig. 3B) isoforms of JNK 5 min after infusion. These effects were transient, as levels of both phosphorylated isoforms returned to baseline by 15 min after infusion. We next examined phosphorylation of the downstream JNK transcription factor called activating transcription factor 2 (ATF2) (Antoniou and Borsello, 2012). As with JNK, G-1 infusion significantly increased levels of, phospho-ATF2 5 min after DH infusion

 $(F_{(3,16)} = 3.03, p < 0.05;$ Fig. 3C), and levels returned to baseline by 15 min after infusion.

To confirm that the G-1 mediated-JNK activation observed occurred via GPER activation, we next examined if G-15 could block the effects of G-1 on JNK



Figure 4. GPER antagonist blocks the G-1-mediated JNK phosphorylation in DH. *A,B*, ICV infusion of 8 ng G-1 significantly increased levels of phosphorylated p46 JNK (*A*) and p54 JNK (*B*) 5 min after infusion. However, these effects were abolished by DH infusion of G-15 indicating that GPER activation is necessary for G-1 to activate JNK signaling. *C*, Neither G-1 nor G-15 altered ERK phosphorylation. Each bar represents the mean \pm SEM percent change from vehicle (**p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001). Insets are representative Western blots. (n = 6/group).

activation. Mice received DH infusion of vehicle or G-15, and ICV infusion of vehicle or G-1. Consistent with the effects of DH G-1 infusion, ICV infusion of G-1 increased phosphorylation of both the p46 ($F_{(2,15)} = 4.97$, p < 0.05; Fig 4A) and p54 ($F_{(2,15)} = 7.89$, p < 0.01; Fig 4B) isoforms of JNK 5 min after infusion. Infusion of G-15 into the DH completely blocked these effects (Fig. 4A,B), suggesting that GPER activation induces JNK phosphorylation in the DH. In contrast, ICV and DH infusion of G-1 and G-15 did not significantly alter ERK phosphorylation (Fig. 4C).

Activation of JNK is necessary for GPER to influence hippocampal memory consolidation

Given the rapid activation of JNK by G-1, we next examined whether this activation is necessary for G-1 to enhance memory consolidation. To do so, we used the JNK activation inhibitor SP600125. We first needed to find a dose of SP600125 that did not block memory consolidation on its own. Therefore, we infused mice with vehicle (2% DMSO) or one of two doses of SP600125 (0.55 or 2.75 ng/hemisphere) immediately after OR or OP training. Mice receiving vehicle ($t_{(6)} = 3.27$, p = 0.02) or either dose of SP600125 (0.55 ng, $t_{(5)} = 2.7$, p = 0.043; 2.75 ng, $t_{(7)} = 3.46$, p = 0.01) spent significantly more time than chance with the novel object 24 h after OR training (Fig. 5A), suggesting that neither dose of SP600125 impaired OR memory consolidation. Similarly, mice infused with vehicle ($t_{(8)} = 3.87$, p = 0.005) or either dose of SP600125 (0.55 ng, $t_{(9)} = 3.45$, p = 0.007; 2.75 ng, $t_{(7)} = 3.7$, p = 0.008) spent significantly more time than chance with the movel object 4 h after OP training (Fig. 5B), indicating neither dose impaired OP memory consolidation. Because neither dose affected memory on its own, we selected the highest behaviorally ineffective dose of SP600125 (2.75 ng/hemisphere) for our remaining studies.



Figure 5. JNK inhibition blocks the GPER-mediated memory enhancement in DH. A, Mice receiving DH infusion of vehicle or the JNK inhibitor SP600125 (0.55 or 2.75 ng/hemisphere) spent significantly more time than chance with the novel object 24 hr after training, suggesting that neither dose of SP600125 impaired memory on its own (n = 6-8/group). B, Similarly, neither dose of SP600125 impaired OP memory tested 4 h after DH infusion (n = 6-10/group). C, D, Immediately after OR or OP training, mice received DH infusion of vehicle, SP600125 (1.85 ng/hemisphere), or U0126 (0.5 µg/hemisphere) followed by ICV infusion of vehicle or G-1 (8 ng). ICV infusion of G-1 significantly enhanced OR memory (C) and OP memory (D). SP600125 blocked these effects (C, D), but U0126 did not, suggesting that activation of JNK, but not ERK, is necessary for GPER-mediated hippocampal memory enhancement (n = 7-10/group)... Each bar represents the mean ± SEM time spent with the novel or moved object (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 relative to chance).

To test whether activation of JNK or ERK was necessary for G-1 to enhance memory consolidation, we next infused mice with G-1 plus 2.75 ng SP600125 or the ERK activation inhibitor U0126 at a dose (0.5 μ g/hemisphere) that has no effect on OR or OP on its own (Fernandez et al., 2008; Boulware et al., 2013). A new set of mice received DH infusion of vehicle (25% DMSO), 2.75 ng SP600125, or 0.5 μ g U0126 and ICV infusion of vehicle (16% DMSO) or 8 ng G-1 immediately after OR



Figure 6. JNK inhibition blocks the GPER-mediated cell signaling in DH. A, B, ICV infusion of 8 ng G-1 increased phosphorylation of p46 JNK (A) and p54 JNK (B) 5 min later. These effects were blocked by DH SP600125 infusion. C, Neither G-1 nor SP600125 altered ERK phosphorylation (n = 7-8/group).

and OP training. Memory in OR and OP was tested 48 and 24 hours later, respectively. In both tasks, SP600125, but not U0126, blocked the memory-enhancing effects of G-1 (Fig. 5C,D). Mice receiving G-1 + vehicle showed a significant preference for the novel object ($t_{(9)} = 2.48$, p = 0.04) and moved object ($t_{(6)} = 6.37$, p = 0.0007), whereas mice receiving G-1 + SP600125 did not (novel object, $t_{(8)} = 1.16$, p = 0.28; moved

В



<u>Figure 7</u>. ERK inhibition does not alter the GPER-mediated cell signaling in DH. *A*, *B*, The increase in p46 (*A*) and p54 (*B*) phosphorylation induced by ICV infusion of 8 ng G-1 was not blocked by DH U0126 infusion. *C*, Neither G-1 nor the behaviorally subeffective dose of U0126 altered ERK phosphorylation. Each bar represents the mean \pm SEM percent change from vehicle (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01). Insets are representative Western blots (n = 7-8/group).

object, $t_{(7)} = 0.86$, p = 0.42), suggesting that JNK activation is necessary for G-1 to enhance memory consolidation. In contrast, mice infused with G-1 + U0126 spent significantly more time than chance with the novel object ($t_{(8)} = 2.83$, p = 0.02) and moved object ($t_{(10)} = 2.48$, p = 0.03), suggesting that ERK activation is not necessary for G-1 to enhance memory consolidation. We next examined the effects of JNK and ERK inhibition on G-1 mediated hippocampal cell signaling. Consistent with the behavioral data, ICV infusion of G-1 increased phosphorylation of both p46 JNK $(F_{(2,19)} = 6.56, p < 0.01;$ Fig. 6A) and p54 JNK $(F_{(2,19)} = 6.47, p < 0.01;$ Fig. 6B) 5 min after infusion. DH infusion of SP600125 abolished the effects of G-1 on p46 and p54 JNK (Fig. 6A,B). In contrast, G-1 and SP600125 did not significantly alter ERK phosphorylation (Fig. 6C). Unlike SP600125, U0126 did not block the GPER-mediated JNK activation (Fig. 7A,B). Whereas G-1 increased phosphorylation of both p46 JNK ($F_{(2,15)} = 4.44, p < 0.05;$ Fig. 7A) and p54 JNK ($F_{(2,15)} = 6.68, p < 0.01;$ Fig. 7B) 5 min after infusion, U0126 did not block the effects of G-1 on p46 JNK ($t_{(10)} = 2.35, p < 0.05;$ Fig. 4H) and p54 JNK ($t_{(10)} = 2.34, p < 0.05;$ Fig. 7B). Moreover, neither G-1 nor U0126 infusion altered ERK activation (Fig. 7C). These data suggest that ERK activation does not regulate G-1-induced hippocampal JNK activation. Together, these results support that activation of JNK, but not ERK, is essential for GPER to induce memory enhancement.

E₂-mediated hippocampal memory consolidation is independent of GPER and JNK activation

We have previously demonstrated that E_2 enhances hippocampal memory consolidation by $ER\alpha$ - or $ER\beta$ -mediated ERK activation in the DH (Fernandez et al., 2008; Boulware et al., 2013). In contrast, above data support that the G-1-induced enhancement of hippocampal memory consolidation is dependent on hippocampal JNK activation, rather than ERK activation. This finding begs the question of whether E_2 -induced memory enhancements are also dependent on JNK and/or GPER activation. To address this issue, we first examined the effects of E_2 on JNK cell signaling in the DH. Mice received bilateral DH infusion of the vehicle or E_2 (5 µg/ hemisphere), and the DH was dissected bilaterally 5 or 10 min later. DH E_2 infusion did not alter DH p46 JNK, and p54 JNK phosphorylation at either the 5 or 10 min time point (Fig. 8A,B), suggesting that E_2 does not activate JNK in the DH. As our previous studies (Fernandez et al., 2008; Boulware et al., 2013), DH E_2 infusion



<u>Figure 8</u>. E₂ increases activation of ERK, but not JNK, in the DH. *A*, *B*, DH infusion of E₂ (5 μ g/hemisphere) did not alter levels of phospho-p46 JNK (*A*) or phospho-p54 JNK (*B*) 5 or 10 min later. *C*, DH infusion of E₂ (5 μ g/hemisphere) significantly increased phosphorylation of p42 ERK, but not p44 ERK, 5 min after infusion. Levels returned to baseline 10 min later. Each bar represents the mean \pm SEM percent change from vehicle controls (**p* < 0.05). Insets are representative Western blots. (n = 6/group).

increased phospho-p42-ERK 5 min after infusion ($F_{(2,15)} = 3.38$, p < 0.05; Fig. 8C) but had no effect on p44 ERK (Fig. 8C). These data suggest that E₂ increases activation of ERK, but not JNK, in the DH.

Next, we investigated the effects of GPER and JNK inhibition on E₂mediated hippocampal cell signaling. Mice received ICV and DH infusions, respectively, of vehicle + vehicle, E₂ + vehicle, E₂ + SP600125, or E₂ + G-15, and DH tissue was collected 5 min later. As in our previous work (Boulware et al., 2013), ICV infusion of E₂ increased levels of phospho-p42 ERK ($F_{(3,20)} = 7.6, p < 0.01$), but not phospho-p44 ERK ($F_{(3,20)} = 0.7, p > 0.05$) (Fig. 9A). The increase in p42 ERK was not blocked by DH infusion of G-15 and SP600125 (G-15, $F_{(3,20)} = 7.6, p < 0.001$; SP600125, $F_{(3,20)} = 7.6, p < 0.05$; Fig. 9A). As with DH infusion, ICV infusion of E₂ did not alter phosphorylation of p46 JNK or p54 JNK, whether alone or in combination with DH infusion of G-15 and SP600125 (Fig. 9B,C). Together, these data reiterate that E₂ does not rapidly activate JNK in the DH and indicate that activation of JNK or GPER is not necessary for E₂ to activate ERK in the DH.

Given this finding, the next logical step was to determine whether JNK and GPER activation play a role in E₂-mediated hippocampal memory enhancement. To do so, we infused mice with vehicle, G-15 (1.85 ng/hemisphere) or SP600125 (2.75 ng/hemisphere) into the DH and vehicle or E₂ (10 µg) into the dorsal third ventricle immediately after OR and OP training. OR and OP retention were tested 48 and 24 hours later, respectively. In both tasks, mice receiving E₂ + vehicle showed a significant preference for the novel object ($t_{(5)} = 2.73$, p = 0.04; Fig 9D) and moved object ($t_{(7)} = 2.69$, p = 0.03; Fig 9E), in agreement with our previous work (Boulware et al., 2013). Consistent with the lack of JNK activation observed above, SP600125



Figure 9. GPER and JNK inhibition do not affect the E₂-mediated memory enhancement and cell signaling in the DH. *A*, ICV infusion of E₂ (10 µg) increased phospho-p42 ERK levels 5 min after infusion; this effect was not blocked by DH infusion of G-15 or SP600125. ICV infusion of E₂ (10 µg) did not alter p44 ERK phosphorylation (n = 6/group). *B*, *C*, ICV infusion of E₂ did not alfter p46 JNK (*B*) or p54 JNK (*C*) phosphorylation 5 min after infusion when infused with vehicle, G-15, or SP600125 phosphorylation (n = 6/group). Each bar represents the mean \pm SEM percent change from vehicle (**p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.01, ****p* < 0.001). Insets are representative Western blots. *D*, *E*, Immediately after OR or OP training, mice received DH infusion of vehicle, G-15 (1.85 ng/hemisphere), or SP600125 (2.75 ng/hemisphere) followed by ICV infusion of vehicle or E₂ (10 µg). ICV infusion of E₂ significantly enhanced OR memory (*D*) and OP memory (*E*), and these effects were not blocked by G-15 or SP600125 (*D*, *E*), suggesting that neither GPER nor JNK activation is necessary for E₂ to enhance hippocampal memory consolidation (n = 6-12/group). Each bar represents the mean \pm SEM time spent with the novel or moved object (**p* < 0.05 relative to chance).

did not prevent E₂ from enhancing OR or OP memory consolidation (Fig. 9D,E), as mice receiving E₂ + SP600125 spent significantly more time with the novel object $(t_{(11)} = 2.36, p = 0.04)$ and moved object $(t_{(9)} = 2.45, p = 0.04)$. Interestingly, G-15 also did not block E₂-induced memory enhancements in either task (Fig. 9D,E), as demonstrated by the fact that mice receiving E₂ + G-15 spent significantly more time with the novel object $(t_{(5)} = 3.67, p = 0.01)$ and moved object $(t_{(6)} = 3.36, p = 0.02)$. These results suggest that neither JNK nor GPER activation in the DH is necessary for E₂ to enhance hippocampal memory consolidation.

Discussion

The present study provides the first evidence that GPER, a putative estrogen receptor, regulates hippocampal memory consolidation in young ovariectomized female mice in an E_2 -independent manner. This conclusion is supported by several novel findings. First, GPER activation in the DH enhances OR and OP memory consolidation and increases JNK, but not ERK, phosphorylation in the DH. Second, the memory-enhancing effects of GPER activation are blocked by inhibition of JNK, but not ERK, in the DH. Finally, E_2 infusion increases ERK, but not JNK phosphorylation in the DH, and the memory-enhancing effects of E_2 are blocked by inhibition of ERK, but not JNK or GPER activation. Collectively, these data indicate that E_2 enhances hippocampal memory consolidation in females by activating ERK, whereas GPER enhances hippocampal memory consolidation by activating JNK. As such, the data suggest that GPER in the DH does not function as an estrogen receptor to facilitate memory consolidation.

Our findings showing that G-1 enhanced OR and OP memory consolidation are consistent with previous studies demonstrating that systemic injections of G-1 enhanced spatial learning and memory in ovariectomized rats (Hammond et al., 2009; Hammond and Gibbs, 2011; Hawley et al., 2014). However, the rat data do not permit definitive conclusions about the role of hippocampal GPER in memory because systemic treatments do not specifically affect the hippocampus. Therefore, we used dorsal hippocampal infusions of G-1 to pinpoint the role of hippocampal GPER in regulating memory consolidation. To ensure that the effects of G-1 were specific to GPER, we tested whether G-15 could antagonize the effects of G-1, as some studies have indicated that G-1 can act in a GPER-independent manner. For example, in breast cancer cell lines, G-1 has been found to interact with an ER- α variant, ER- α 36, but not with GPER (Kang et al., 2010). Additionally, G-1 suppressed the proliferation of ovarian and breast cancer cells, whereas GPER siRNA or G15 did not attenuate the effects of G-1, suggesting that G-1 can act in a GPER-independent manner in cancer cell lines (Wang et al., 2012). In contrast to these proliferative cells, we found that G-15 infusion into the DH prevented G-1 from enhancing OR and OP memory consolidation, as well as increasing JNK phosphorylation. These data suggest that the effects of G-1 on memory and JNK activation are mediated by GPER in the hippocampus. Interestingly, although higher doses of G-15 on their own impaired both OR and OP memory consolidation, OP appeared to be a bit more sensitive to G-15 than OR at the doses tested. Nevertheless, our finding that post-training DH infusion of G-15 dose-dependently impaired memory consolidation is consistent with previous data showing that chronic systemic treatment with G-15 dose-dependently impaired rats (Hammond et al., 2012). Together, these data suggest an important role of GPER in hippocampal memory processes.

The role of ERK in GPER-mediated memory enhancement

The molecular mechanisms through which GPER influences hippocampal memory have not been investigated previously. Therefore, one of the primary goals of this thesis was to pinpoint possible downstream effectors of GPER activation in the mouse hippocampus. Based on our previous findings showing that p42 ERK activation is necessary for E_2 and agonists of ER α and ER β to enhance OR and OP memory (Fernandez et al., 2008; Boulware et al., 2013), our initial hypothesis was that p42 ERK phosphorylation would also be necessary for G-1 to enhance memory. This hypothesis was also supported by other studies showing that activation of GPER can activate the ERK pathway in pancreatic beta cells and the ERK activation effect is removed in GPER knockout mice model and in GPER depletion model by small interfering RNA (Maggiolini and Picard, 2010; Sharma and Prossnitz, 2011). We first showed that G-1 does not affect p42 or p44 ERK phosphorylation in the DH 5, 15, or 30 min after infusion. These time points were selected based on our previous studies demonstrating that DH E₂ infusion increases p42 ERK phosphorylation 5 min after DH infusion (Fernandez et al., 2008; Boulware et al., 2013; Fortress et al., 2013b). G-1 has a slightly slower effects on the rapid mobilization of intracellular calcium ($t_{1/2} \approx$ 30 s) than E₂ ($t_{1/2} \approx 2$ s) (Bologa et al., 2006), and it may take longer for G-1 to activate ERK than E₂. Therefore, we included the 15 and 30 min time points as well as 5 min time point. However, G-1 infusion did not alter ERK activation at any time point. This finding is consistent with data from vascular smooth muscle cells showing that E₂, but not GPER, increases ERK phosphorylation in these cells (Ortmann et al., 2011).

To further explore possible effects of G-1 on ERK signaling, we measured whether G-1 regulated activation of PI3K and Akt, based on our previous finding that phosphorylation of PI3K/Akt signaling is necessary for E_2 to activate ERK in the DH and enhance OR memory consolidation (Fan et al., 2010; Fortress et al., 2013b). Moreover, several studies show that GPER can regulate Akt cell signaling in numerous cell lines (Moriarty et al., 2006; Maggiolini and Picard, 2010) and in rats (Jang et al., 2013). As with ERK, however, we found that DH infusion of G-1 did not increase PI3K or Akt phosphorylation at any time point. Indeed, Akt phosphorylation was decreased 30 min after infusion, the reason for which is unclear. Nevertheless, the fact that G-1 did not increase PI3K and Akt phosphorylation in the DH as observed after E_2 infusion indicates that G-1 does not activate multiple aspects of ERK signaling in the female mouse DH.

These data led us to hypothesize that ERK activation would not play a role in the ability of G-1 to enhance OR and OP memory consolidation. Consistent with this hypothesis, we found that the ERK inhibitor U0126 did not prevent G-1 from enhancing OR or OP memory consolidation. These results demonstrate for the first time that ERK activation is not necessary for GPER to enhance hippocampal memory consolidation in female mice. Although this finding is novel as it relates to memory, it is consistent with reports from peripheral tissues showing that the ERK inhibitors U0126 and PD98059 do not prevent G-1 from inducing endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation in rat aorta (Jang et al., 2013) or DNA synthesis in human epithelial cells (Holm et al., 2011). These few examples do not permit any general conclusions about the role of ERK in mediating the cellular effects of GPER activation, the present data provide evidence that ERK is not involved GPER-mediated memory regulation.

The role of JNK in GPER-mediated memory enhancement

Given the unexpected lack of a role for ERK in GPER-induced memory enhancement, we next sought to identify other signaling pathways through which GPER may mediate memory consolidation. We focused on JNK signaling, since this MAPK is activated by various G proteins (Goldsmith and Dhanasekaran, 2007) and is involved in regulating synaptic plasticity (Tararuk et al., 2006; Waetzig et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2007). We demonstrated that GPER activation led to rapid phosphorylation of both JNK isoforms in the DH, an effect that was blocked by DH infusino of the JNK inhibitor SP600125, but not the ERK inhibitor U0126. In addition, we found that G-1 increased phosphorylation of the downstream JNK transcription factor ATF2, suggesting that the G-1 induced phosphorylation of JNK also activated nuclear transcription. Importantly, we found that activation of JNK, but not ERK, in the DH is necessary for GPER to faciliate memory consolidation in both the OR and OP tasks. As such, these data demonstrate that JNK activation, but not ERK activation, is necessary for GPER enhance hippocampal memory consolidation.

Although JNK has been studied in the context of cellular stress and apoptosis (Kyriakis and Avruch, 2001; Reinecke et al., 2013), JNK has also been shown to play an important role in synaptic plasticity, neuronal regeneration, and development in the central nervous system (Tararuk et al., 2006; Waetzig et al., 2006). However, its role in learning and memory has been understudied, and existing data provide conflicting results. For example, some studies suggest an important role of JNK activation in long-term inhibitory avoidance memory and in short-term synaptic plasticity and long-term depression (Bevilaqua et al., 2007; Li et al., 2007; Carboni et al., 2008). However, other data indicate that JNK negatively regulates short-term memory in the hippocampus (Bevilaqua et al., 2003). Duration of JNK activation may play an important role in the resulting effects on memory, as suggested by data showing that short-term JNK activation facilitates hippocampal memory and synaptic plasticity, whereas prolonged JNK activation leads to memory deficits and neurodegeneration (Sherrin et al., 2011). Although our findings cannot directly speak to the inconsitencies in the JNK literature, our findings provide much needed additional information on the role of JNK in hippocampal memory. These data suggest that JNK is an essential mediator of GPER-induced memory modulation. However, as will be discussed below, JNK appears to play no role in E₂-induced memory modulation.

The estrogen receptor that doesn't act like an estrogen receptor

Evidence that GPER is an estrogen receptor comes from data showing that E_2 binds GPER with high affinity (Revankar et al., 2005; Moriarty et al., 2006; Prossnitz et al., 2007). However, other studies suggest that GPER acts independently of E_2 . For example, a study using endothelial cells from $ER\alpha/ER\beta$ -deficient mice demonstrated that E₂ could not activate cAMP or ERK pathways, despite the presence of GPER (Pedram et al., 2006) and cells, COS-7 and CHO (Chinese hamster ovary) cells, transfected with GPER failed to signal in response to E_2 (Otto et al., 2008). Another study revealed that treatment with G-15 or downregulation of GPER expression with GPER shRNA did not prevent E2-mediated apoptosis in rat aortic vascular endothelial cells (Ding et al., 2014). Further, rapid extranuclear E₂ signaling in breast cancer cells involved only ER α and ER β but not GPER (Madak-Erdogan et al., 2008), and the neuroprotective effects of E₂ on post ischemic injury are not dependent on GPER (Lamprecht and Morrison, 2014). Moreover, some investigators insist that GPER is not a true ER, but potentially has a collaborative role in mediating the biological actions of estrogens (Levin, 2009). Such studies have stimulated extensive debate about whether GPER acts as a true estrogen receptor (Langer et al., 2010).

The present study adds to the debate by showing that GPER and E_2 do not enhance memory via the same cell signaling mechanisms. As we have previously shown, E_2 and agonists of ER α and ER β require ERK activation in the DH to enhance OR and OP memory consolidation in ovariectomized female mice (Fernandez et al., 2008; Boulware et al., 2013; Fortress et al., 2013b). However, the present study found no role of ERK in the memory-enhancing effects of GPER. Furthermore, the present study found that E_2 did not phosphorylate either isoform of JNK at any time point examined, nor did the JNK inhibitor SP600125 prevent E_2 from enhancing OR or OP memory consolidation. These data demonstrate not only that E_2 does not activate JNK in the DH, but also that JNK activation is not necessary for E_2 to enhance hippocampal memory consolidation. Although these data provide strong support that GPER and E_2 independently regulate memory formation, more definitive evidence comes from the fact that G-15 does not prevent E_2 from enhancing either OR or OP memory consolidation. These data demonstrate that GPER activation is not necessary for E_2 to enhance hippocampal memory consolidation, and suggest that GPER does not function as an estrogen receptor in the dorsal hippocampus. Although we cannot presently rule out potential interactions between GPER and ER α or ER β , we find this possibility unlikely given how closely ER agonists mimic the effects of E_2 on memory and ERK signaling (Boulware et al., 2013).

Further studies and conclusion

The surprising finding that GPER does not act as an estrogen receptor in the dorsal hippocampus begs the question of whether GPER directly interacts with ER α or ER β . On the basis of our data, we could first hypothesize that no such interactions take place and that GPER is not an estrogen receptor, at least in the hippocampus. If GPER does not work as estrogen receptor, the alternative natural ligand for GPER might be aldosterone. Some studies have indicated that the potential role of aldosterone in GPER activation in vascular smooth muscle cells (Brailoiu et al., 2013; Gros et al., 2013), still it needs further investigation (Filardo and Thomas, 2012). Although several studies assert that GPER acts independently of E₂ (Pedram et al., 2006; Otto et al., 2008; Ding et al., 2014), it is difficult to ignore the many other

studies showing that E₂ activates GPER (Revankar et al., 2005; Thomas et al., 2005; Moriarty et al., 2006; Prossnitz et al., 2007; Langer et al., 2010). Therefore, an alternative hypothesis is that the activation of intracellular ERs may inhibit GPER activation. Thus, activation of either ER α or ER β might be able to suppress GPER activation because E₂ has higher binding affinity on ER α and ER β than GPER; competitive radiometric binding assay showed the K_d value of E₂ on ER α (0.30 nM) and ER β (0.90 nM) in human endometrial cancer (HEC-1) cells, and the K_d value of E₂ on GPER (3.0 nM) in human embryonic kidney (HEK)293 cells (Sun et al., 1999; Thomas et al., 2005). To examine potential interactions between intracellular ERs and GPER, we may be able to test whether ER α and ER β antagonists block the effects of G-1 on memory and JNK activation. We can also examine physical interactions among the receptors using sucrose fractionation and co-immunoprecipitation (CoIP) as we have described previously(Boulware et al., 2013) . Delineating such interactions would provide important insight into how the intracellular ERs and GPER may interact to regulate hippocampal memory.

Future studies could also better elucidate the role of JNK signaling in hippocampal formation, based on our findings that GPER activation enhances hippocampal memory via the JNK signaling pathway. Given how little is known about the role of JNK in memory, one possible future direction would be to determine the molecular mechanisms through which JNK affects hippocampal memory. Two avenues of research may be particularly promising: 1) determining how JNK regulates PSD-95 protein, and 2) identifying how JNK modulates gene expression. Because interactions between GPER and PSD-95 have been identified in hippocampal dendritic spines (Akama et al., 2013) and JNK kinase activity is involved in the regulation of the PSD-95 to recruit synaptic AMPA receptors (Kim et al., 2007), the JNK-PSD-95 relationship is worthy of further study to elucidate how JNK affects hippocampal memory. Physical interaction between JNK and PSD-95 can be examined by Co-IP and JNK inhibition effect on PSD-95 expression can be tested by western blot or PCR. JNK-mediated gene expression in the hippocampus would also be interesting to examine because we showed that G-1 activated the JNK downstream transcription factor, ATF-2. ATF-2 works as a transcription factor responding to nerve growth factor in sympathetic neurons (Lau and Ronai, 2012), therefore, microarray technique will provide potential target gene for ATF-2 in the hippocampus and the gene expression will be confirmed by RT-PCR. If we find JNK-mediated changes in gene expression, then it would be interesting to examine the epigenetic processes that might regulate this expression. For example, our laboratory has demonstrated that histone acetylation and DNA methylation are necessary for E_2 to enhance OR memory consolidation in ovariectomized female mice (Zhao et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2012). In addition, E2-induced histone H3 acetylation was dependent on ERK activation (Zhao et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2012), indicating that changes in histone acetylation are triggered by cell signaling mechanisms. To our knowledge, JNK-induced regulation of epigenetic processes has not been investigated, and so is an area ripe for investigation.

In conclusion, the present study provides the first evidence that GPER activation can enhance hippocampal memory consolidation in JNK dependent manner and that E_2 -mediated memory enhancement is independent of GPER and JNK activation. These results do not support a role for GPER in the memory-enhancing effects of E_2 , although GPER activation has similar memory-enhancing effects as E_2 . This interesting finding may have important implications for the future design of estrogen-based therapies for reducing the risk of age-related memory decline and Alzheimer's disease in women (Yaffe et al., 1998; Zandi et al., 2002). Therefore, better understanding of GPER function could provide important opportunities for the development of new therapies that would provide the cognitive benefits of estrogen without potentially dangerous side effects.

References

- Akama KT, Thompson LI, Milner TA, McEwen BS (2013) Post-synaptic density-95 (PSD-95) binding capacity of G-protein-coupled receptor 30 (GPR30), an estrogen receptor that can be identified in hippocampal dendritic spines. J Biol Chem 288:6438-6450.
- Alzheimer's Association (2012) 2012 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures. Alzheimer's & Dementia 8:131-168.
- Antoniou X, Borsello T (2012) The JNK signalling transduction pathway in the brain. Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 4:2110-2120.
- Arushanyan EB, Beier EV (2008) The hippocampus and cognitive impairments. Neurosci Behav Physiol 38:751-758.
- Baker KB, Kim JJ (2002) Effects of stress and hippocampal NMDA receptor antagonism on recognition memory in rats. Learn Mem 9:58-65.
- Bennett BL, Sasaki DT, Murray BW, O'Leary EC, Sakata ST, Xu W, Leisten JC, Motiwala A, Pierce S, Satoh Y, Bhagwat SS, Manning AM, Anderson DW (2001) SP600125, an anthrapyrazolone inhibitor of Jun N-terminal kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:13681-13686.
- Bevilaqua LR, Kerr DS, Medina JH, Izquierdo I, Cammarota M (2003) Inhibition of hippocampal Jun N-terminal kinase enhances short-term memory but blocks long-term memory formation and retrieval of an inhibitory avoidance task. Eur J Neurosci 17:897-902.
- Bevilaqua LR, Rossato JI, Clarke JH, Medina JH, Izquierdo I, Cammarota M (2007) Inhibition of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in the CA1 region of the dorsal hippocampus blocks extinction of inhibitory avoidance memory. Behav Pharmacol 18:483-489.
- Bimonte HA, Denenberg VH (1999) Estradiol facilitates performance as working memory load increases. Psychoneuroendocrinology 24:161-173.
- Blasko E, Haskell CA, Leung S, Gualtieri G, Halks-Miller M, Mahmoudi M, Dennis MK, Prossnitz ER, Karpus WJ, Horuk R (2009) Beneficial role of the GPR30 agonist G-1 in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. Journal of Neuroimmunology 214:66-77.
- Bohacek J, Daniel JM (2007) Increased daily handling of ovariectomized rats

enhances performance on a radial-maze task and obscures effects of estradiol replacement. Horm Behav 52:237-243.

- Bologa CG, Revankar CM, Young SM, Edwards BS, Arterburn JB, Kiselyov AS,
 Parker MA, Tkachenko SE, Savchuck NP, Sklar LA, Oprea TI, Prossnitz ER
 (2006) Virtual and biomolecular screening converge on a selective agonist for
 GPR30. Nat Chem Biol 2:207-212.
- Boulware MI, Heisler JD, Frick KM (2013) The memory-enhancing effects of hippocampal estrogen receptor activation involve metabotropic glutamate receptor signaling. J Neurosci 33:15184-15194.
- Boulware MI, Weick JP, Becklund BR, Kuo SP, Groth RD, Mermelstein PG (2005)
 Estradiol activates group I and II metabotropic glutamate receptor signaling, leading to opposing influences on cAMP response element-binding protein. Journal of Neuroscience 25:5066-5078.
- Brailoiu E, Dun SL, Brailoiu GC, Mizuo K, Sklar LA, Oprea TI, Prossnitz ER, Dun NJ (2007) Distribution and characterization of estrogen receptor G proteincoupled receptor 30 in the rat central nervous system. Journal of Endocrinology:311–321.
- Brailoiu GC, Benamar K, Arterburn JB, Gao E, Rabinowitz JE, Koch WJ, Brailoiu E (2013) Aldosterone increases cardiac vagal tone via G protein-coupled oestrogen receptor activation. J Physiol 591:4223-4235.
- Broadbent NJ, Squire LR, Clark RE (2004) Spatial memory, recognition memory, and the hippocampus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:14515-14520.
- Burns KA, Korach KS (2012) Estrogen receptors and human disease: an update. Arch Toxicol 86:1491-1504.
- Carboni S, Boschert U, Gaillard P, Gotteland JP, Gillon JY, Vitte PA (2008) AS601245, a c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK) inhibitor, reduces axon/dendrite damage and cognitive deficits after global cerebral ischaemia in gerbils. Br J Pharmacol 153:157-163.
- Carrer HF, Araque A, Buño W (2003) Estradiol regulates the slow Ca2+-activated K+ current in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. Journal of Neuroscience 23:6338-6344.
- Cheskis BJ, Greger JG, Nagpal S, Freedman LP (2007) Signaling by estrogens. J Cell Physiol 213:610-617.

- Clark RE, Zola SM, Squire LR (2000) Impaired recognition memory in rats after damage to the hippocampus. J Neurosci 20:8853-8860.
- Cohen SJ, Munchow AH, Rios LM, Zhang G, Asgeirsdottir HN, Stackman RW, Jr. (2013) The rodent hippocampus is essential for nonspatial object memory. Curr Biol 23:1685-1690.
- Corkin S, Amaral DG, Gonzalez RG, Johnson KA, Hyman BT (1997) H. M.'s medial temporal lobe lesion: findings from magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosci 17:3964-3979.
- Cui J, Shen Y, Li R (2013) Estrogen synthesis and signaling pathways during aging: from periphery to brain. Trends Mol Med 19:197-209.
- Daniel JM, Dohanich GP (2001) Acetylcholine mediates the estrogen-induced increase in NMDA receptor binding in CA1 of the hippocampus and the associated improvement in working memory. J Neurosci 21:6949-6956.
- Dennis MK, Burai R, Ramesh C, Petrie WK, Alcon SN, Nayak TK, Bologa CG, Leitao A, Brailoiu E, Deliu E, Dun NJ, Sklar LA, Hathaway HJ, Arterburn JB, Oprea TI, Prossnitz ER (2009) In vivo effects of a GPR30 antagonist. Nat Chem Biol 5:421-427.
- Deroo BJ, Korach KS (2006) Estrogen receptors and human disease. J Clin Invest 116:561-570.
- deToledo-Morrell L, Geinisman Y, Morrell F (1988) Age-dependent alterations in hippocampal synaptic plasticity: Relation to memory disorders. Neurobiology of Aging 9:581-590.
- Ding Q, Hussain Y, Chorazyczewski J, Gros R, Feldman RD (2014) GPERindependent effects of estrogen in rat aortic vascular endothelial cells. Mol Cell Endocrinol.
- Duff SJ, Hampson E (2000) A beneficial effect of estrogen on working memory in postmenopausal women taking hormone replacement therapy. Hormones and Behavior 38:262-276.
- Fan L, Zhao Z, Orr PT, Chambers CH, Lewis MC, Frick KM (2010) Estradiolinduced object memory consolidation in middle-aged female mice requires dorsal hippocampal extracellular signal-regulated kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activation. J Neurosci 30:4390-4400.

Fernandez SM, Lewis MC, Pechenino AS, Harburger LL, Orr PT, Gresack JE, Schafe

GE, Frick KM (2008) Estradiol-induced enhancement of object memory consolidation involves hippocampal extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation and membrane-bound estrogen receptors. J Neurosci 28:8660-8667.

- Filardo EJ, Thomas P (2005) GPR30: a seven-transmembrane-spanning estrogen receptor that triggers EGF release. Trends Endocrinol Metab 16:362-367.
- Filardo EJ, Thomas P (2012) Minireview: G protein-coupled estrogen receptor-1, GPER-1: its mechanism of action and role in female reproductive cancer, renal and vascular physiology. Endocrinology 153:2953-2962.
- Filardo EJ, Graeber CT, Quinn JA, Resnick MB, Giri D, DeLellis RA, Steinhoff MM, Sabo E (2006) Distribution of GPR30, a seven membrane-spanning estrogen receptor, in primary breast cancer and its association with clinicopathologic determinants of tumor progression. Clin Cancer Res 12:6359-6366.
- Fortress AM, Schram SL, Tuscher JJ, Frick KM (2013a) Canonical Wnt signaling is necessary for object recognition memory consolidation. J Neurosci 33:12619-12626.
- Fortress AM, Fan L, Orr PT, Zhao Z, Frick KM (2013b) Estradiol-induced object recognition memory consolidation is dependent on activation of mTOR signaling in the dorsal hippocampus. Learn Mem 20:147-155.
- Fortress AM, Kim J, Poole RL, Gould TJ, Frick KM (2014) 17beta-Estradiol regulates histone alterations associated with memory consolidation and increases Bdnf promoter acetylation in middle-aged female mice. Learn Mem 21:457-467.
- Foy MR, Xu J, Xie X, Brinton RD, Thompson RF, Berger TW (1999) 17beta-estradiol enhances NMDA receptor-mediated EPSPs and long-term potentiation. J Neurophysiol 81:925-929.
- Frick KM (2009) Estrogens and age-related memory decline in rodents: What have we learned and where do we go from here? Hormones and Behavior 55:2-23.
- Frick KM, Fernandez SM, Harburger LL (2010a) A new approach to understanding the molecular mechanisms through which estrogens affect cognition. Biochim Biophys Acta 1800:1045-1055.
- Frick KM, Zhao Z, Fan L (2010b) The histone acetyltransferase inhibitor garcinol blocks estradiol-induced enhancement of object memory consolidation. Society for Neuroscience Abstracts:Abstract # 296.297.

Frye CA, Duffy CK, Walf AA (2007) Estrogens and progestins enhance spatial

learning of intact and ovariectomized rats in the object placement task. Neurobiol Learn Mem 88:208-216.

- Funakoshi T, Yanai A, Shinoda K, Kawano MM, Mizukami Y (2006) G proteincoupled receptor 30 is an estrogen receptor in the plasma membrane.Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 346:904-910.
- Gervais NJ, Jacob S, Brake WG, Mumby DG (2013) Systemic and intra-rhinalcortical 17-beta estradiol administration modulate object-recognition memory in ovariectomized female rats. Horm Behav 64:642-652.
- Goldsmith ZG, Dhanasekaran DN (2007) G protein regulation of MAPK networks. Oncogene 26:3122-3142.
- Gould E, Woolley CS, Frankfurt M, McEwen BS (1990) Gonadal steroids regulate dendritic spine density in hippocampal pyramidal cells in adulthood. J Neurosci 10:1286-1291.
- Gresack JE, Frick KM (2006) Post-training estrogen enhances spatial and object memory consolidation in female mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 84:112-119.
- Gresack JE, Kerr KM, Frick KM (2007) Life-long environmental enrichment differentially affects the mnemonic response to estrogen in young, middleaged, and aged female mice. Neurobiol Learn Mem 88:393-408.
- Gros R, Ding Q, Liu B, Chorazyczewski J, Feldman RD (2013) Aldosterone mediates its rapid effects in vascular endothelial cells through GPER activation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 304:C532-540.
- Haeusgen W, Boehm R, Zhao Y, Herdegen T, Waetzig V (2009) Specific activities of individual c-Jun N-terminal kinases in the brain. Neuroscience 161:951-959.
- Hammond R, Gibbs RB (2011) GPR30 is positioned to mediate estrogen effects on basal forebrain cholinergic neurons and cognitive performance. Brain Research 1379:53-60.
- Hammond R, Nelson D, Kline E, Gibbs RB (2012) Chronic treatment with a GPR30 antagonist impairs acquisition of a spatial learning task in young female rats. Horm Behav 62:367-374.
- Hammond R, Mauk R, Ninaci D, Nelson D, Gibbs RB (2009) Chronic treatment with estrogen receptor agonists restores acquisition of a spatial learning task in young ovariectomized rats. Hormones and Behavior 56:309-314.

Harburger LL, Bennett JC, Frick KM (2007) Effects of estrogen and progesterone on

spatial memory consolidation in aged females. Neurobiol Aging 28:602-610.

- Hawley WR, Grissom EM, Moody NM, Dohanich GP, Vasudevan N (2014) Activation of G-protein-coupled receptor 30 is sufficient to enhance spatial recognition memory in ovariectomized rats. Behav Brain Res 262:68-73.
- Hojo Y, Hattori TA, Enami T, Furukawa A, Suzuki K, Ishii HT, Mukai H, Morrison JH, Janssen WG, Kominami S, Harada N, Kimoto T, Kawato S (2004) Adult male rat hippocampus synthesizes estradiol from pregnenolone by cytochromes P45017alpha and P450 aromatase localized in neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:865-870.
- Holm A, Baldetorp B, Olde B, Leeb-Lundberg LM, Nilsson BO (2011) The GPER1 agonist G-1 attenuates endothelial cell proliferation by inhibiting DNA synthesis and accumulating cells in the S and G2 phases of the cell cycle. J Vasc Res 48:327-335.
- Holscher C (2003) Time, space and hippocampal functions. Rev Neurosci 14:253-284.
- Ignatov T, Modl S, Thulig M, Weissenborn C, Treeck O, Ortmann O, Zenclussen A, Costa SD, Kalinski T, Ignatov A (2013) GPER-1 acts as a tumor suppressor in ovarian cancer. J Ovarian Res 6:51.
- Jang EJ, Seok YM, Arterburn JB, Olatunji LA, Kim IK (2013) GPER-1 agonist G1 induces vasorelaxation through activation of epidermal growth factor receptordependent signalling pathway. J Pharm Pharmacol 65:1488-1499.
- Kang L, Zhang X, Xie Y, Tu Y, Wang D, Liu Z, Wang ZY (2010) Involvement of estrogen receptor variant ER-alpha36, not GPR30, in nongenomic estrogen signaling. Mol Endocrinol 24:709-721.
- Kim MJ, Futai K, Jo J, Hayashi Y, Cho K, Sheng M (2007) Synaptic accumulation of PSD-95 and synaptic function regulated by phosphorylation of serine-295 of PSD-95. Neuron 56:488-502.
- Kumar P, Wu Q, Chambliss KL, Yuhanna IS, Mumby SM, Mineo C, Tall GG, Shaul PW (2007) Direct interactions with G alpha i and G betagamma mediate nongenomic signaling by estrogen receptor alpha. Mol Endocrinol 21:1370-1380.
- Kyriakis JM, Avruch J (2001) Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. Physiol Rev 81:807-869.

- Lamprecht MR, Morrison B, 3rd (2014) GPR30 activation is neither necessary nor sufficient for acute neuroprotection by 17beta-estradiol after an ischemic injury in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. Brain Res 1563:131-137.
- Langer G, Bader B, Meoli L, Isensee J, Delbeck M, Noppinger PR, Otto C (2010) A critical review of fundamental controversies in the field of GPR30 research. Steroids 75:603-610.
- Lau E, Ronai ZA (2012) ATF2 at the crossroad of nuclear and cytosolic functions. J Cell Sci 125:2815-2824.
- Levin ER (2009) G protein-coupled receptor 30: estrogen receptor or collaborator? Endocrinology 150:1563-1565.
- Lewis MC, Kerr KM, Orr PT, Frick KM (2008) Estradiol-induced enhancement of object memory consolidation involves NMDA receptors and protein kinase A in the dorsal hippocampus of female C57BL/6 mice. Behav Neurosci 122:716-721.
- Li XM, Li CC, Yu SS, Chen JT, Sabapathy K, Ruan DY (2007) JNK1 contributes to metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent long-term depression and shortterm synaptic plasticity in the mice area hippocampal CA1. Eur J Neurosci 25:391-396.
- Liu F, Day M, Muniz LC, Bitran D, Arias R, Revilla-Sanchez R, Grauer S, Zhang G, Kelley C, Pulito V, Sung A, Mervis RF, Navarra R, Hirst WD, Reinhart PH, Marquis KL, Moss SJ, Pangalos MN, Brandon NJ (2008) Activation of estrogen receptor-beta regulates hippocampal synaptic plasticity and improves memory. Nature Neuroscience 11:334-343.
- Luine VN, Jacome LF, Maclusky NJ (2003) Rapid enhancement of visual and place memory by estrogens in rats. Endocrinology 144:2836-2844.
- Luttrell LM, Daaka Y, Lefkowitz RJ (1999) Regulation of tyrosine kinase cascades by G-protein-coupled receptors. Curr Opin Cell Biol 11:177-183.
- Madak-Erdogan Z, Kieser KJ, Kim SH, Komm B, Katzenellenbogen JA, Katzenellenbogen BS (2008) Nuclear and extranuclear pathway inputs in the regulation of global gene expression by estrogen receptors. Mol Endocrinol 22:2116-2127.
- Maggiolini M, Picard D (2010) The unfolding stories of GPR30, a new membranebound estrogen receptor. J Endocrinol 204:105-114.

- McClure RE, Barha CK, Galea LA (2013) 17beta-Estradiol, but not estrone, increases the survival and activation of new neurons in the hippocampus in response to spatial memory in adult female rats. Horm Behav 63:144-157.
- Milner TA, McEwen BS, Hayashi S, Li CJ, Reagan LP, Alves SE (2001) Ultrastructural evidence that hippocampal alpha estrogen receptors are located at extranuclear sites. Journal of Comparative Neurology 429:355-371.
- Milner TA, Ayoola K, Drake CT, Herrick SP, Tabori NE, McEwen BS, Warrier S, Alves SE (2005) Ultrastructural localization of estrogen receptor beta immunoreactivity in the rat hippocampal formation. Journal of Comparative Neurology 491:81-95.
- Moriarty K, Kim KH, Bender JR (2006) Minireview: Estrogen receptor-mediated rapid signaling. Endocrinology 147:5557-5563.
- Ortmann J, Veit M, Zingg S, Di Santo S, Traupe T, Yang Z, Volzmann J, Dubey RK, Christen S, Baumgartner I (2011) Estrogen receptor-alpha but not -beta or GPER inhibits high glucose-induced human VSMC proliferation: potential role of ROS and ERK. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96:220-228.
- Otto C, Rohde-Schulz B, Schwarz G, Fuchs I, Klewer M, Brittain D, Langer G, Bader B, Prelle K, Nubbemeyer R, Fritzemeier KH (2008) G protein-coupled receptor 30 localizes to the endoplasmic reticulum and is not activated by estradiol. Endocrinology 149:4846-4856.
- Pechenino AS, Frick KM (2009) The effects of acute 17beta-estradiol treatment on gene expression in the young female mouse hippocampus. Neurobiol Learn Mem 91:315-322.
- Pedram A, Razandi M, Levin ER (2006) Nature of functional estrogen receptors at the plasma membrane. Mol Endocrinol 20:1996-2009.
- Prossnitz ER, Arterburn JB, Sklar LA (2007) GPR30: A G protein-coupled receptor for estrogen. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 265-266:138-142.
- Quinn JA, Graeber CT, Frackelton AR, Jr., Kim M, Schwarzbauer JE, Filardo EJ (2009) Coordinate regulation of estrogen-mediated fibronectin matrix assembly and epidermal growth factor receptor transactivation by the G protein-coupled receptor, GPR30. Mol Endocrinol 23:1052-1064.
- Reinecke K, Herdegen T, Eminel S, Aldenhoff JB, Schiffelholz T (2013) Knockout of c-Jun N-terminal kinases 1, 2 or 3 isoforms induces behavioural changes.

Behav Brain Res 245:88-95.

- Revankar CM, Cimino DF, Sklar LA, Arterburn JB, Prossnitz ER (2005) A transmembrane intracellular estrogen receptor mediates rapid cell signaling. Science 307:1625-1630.
- Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, LaCroix AZ, Kooperbert C, Stefanick ML, Jackson RD, Beresford SA, Howard BV, Johnson KC, Kotchen JM, Ockene J (2002) Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women. Journal of the American Medical Association 288:321-333.
- Ruiz-Palmero I, Simon-Areces J, Garcia-Segura LM, Arevalo MA (2011) Notch/neurogenin 3 signalling is involved in the neuritogenic actions of oestradiol in developing hippocampal neurones. J Neuroendocrinol 23:355-364.
- Scoville WB, Milner B (1957) Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 20:11-21.
- Sharma G, Prossnitz ER (2011) Mechanisms of estradiol-induced insulin secretion by the G protein-coupled estrogen receptor GPR30/GPER in pancreatic beta-cells. Endocrinology 152:3030-3039.
- Sherrin T, Blank T, Todorovic C (2011) c-Jun N-terminal kinases in memory and synaptic plasticity. Rev Neurosci 22:403-410.
- Smith DM, Mizumori SJ (2006) Hippocampal place cells, context, and episodic memory. Hippocampus 16:716-729.
- Squire LR (2009) The legacy of patient H.M. for neuroscience. Neuron 61:6-9.
- Srivastava DP, Evans PD (2013) GPER 1: trials and tribulations of a Membrane Oestrogen Receptor. J Neuroendocrinol.
- Sun J, Meyers MJ, Fink BE, Rajendran R, Katzenellenbogen JA, Katzenellenbogen BS (1999) Novel ligands that function as selective estrogens or antiestrogens for estrogen receptor-alpha or estrogen receptor-beta. Endocrinology 140:800-804.
- Taguchi Y, Koslowski M, Bodenner D (2004) Binding of estrogen receptor with estrogen conjugated to bovine serum albumin (BSA). Nuclear Receptor 2:5.
- Tararuk T, Ostman N, Li W, Bjorkblom B, Padzik A, Zdrojewska J, Hongisto V, Herdegen T, Konopka W, Courtney MJ, Coffey ET (2006) JNK1

phosphorylation of SCG10 determines microtubule dynamics and axodendritic length. J Cell Biol 173:265-277.

- ter Horst JP, de Kloet ER, Schachinger H, Oitzl MS (2012) Relevance of stress and female sex hormones for emotion and cognition. Cell Mol Neurobiol 32:725-735.
- Thomas P, Pang Y, Filardo EJ, Dong J (2005) Identity of an estrogen membrane receptor coupled to a G protein in human breast cancer cells. Endocrinology 146:624-632.
- Tuscher JJ, Fortress AM, Kim J, Frick KM (2014) Regulation of object recognition and object placement by ovarian sex steroid hormones. Behav Brain Res.
- Waetzig V, Zhao Y, Herdegen T (2006) The bright side of JNKs-Multitalented mediators in neuronal sprouting, brain development and nerve fiber regeneration. Prog Neurobiol 80:84-97.
- Walf AA, Koonce CJ, Frye CA (2008) Estradiol or diarylpropionitrile administration to wild type, but not estrogen receptor beta knockout, mice enhances performance in the object recognition and object placement tasks. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory 89:513-521.
- Wallace M, Luine V, Arellanos A, Frankfurt M (2006) Ovariectomized rats show decreased recognition memory and spine density in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex. Brain Res 1126:176-182.
- Wang C, Lv X, Jiang C, Davis JS (2012) The putative G-protein coupled estrogen receptor agonist G-1 suppresses proliferation of ovarian and breast cancer cells in a GPER-independent manner. Am J Transl Res 4:390-402.
- Waters EM, Yildirim M, Janssen WG, Lou WY, McEwen BS, Morrison JH, Milner TA (2011) Estrogen and aging affect the synaptic distribution of estrogen receptor beta-immunoreactivity in the CA1 region of female rat hippocampus. Brain Res 1379:86-97.
- Watters JJ, Campbell JS, Cunningham MJ, Krebs EG, Dorsa DM (1997) Rapid membrane effects of steroids in neuroblastoma cells: Effects of estrogen on mitogen activated protein kinase signalling cascade and c-fos immediate early gene transcription. Endocrinology 138:4030-4033.
- Wide JK, Hanratty K, Ting J, Galea LA (2004) High level estradiol impairs and low level estradiol facilitates non-spatial working memory. Behav Brain Res

155:45-53.

- Woolley CS, Gould E, Frankfurt M, McEwen BS (1990) Naturally occurring fluctuation in dendritic spine density on adult hippocampal pyramidal neurons. J Neurosci 10:4035-4039.
- Wu TW, Chen S, Brinton RD (2011) Membrane estrogen receptors mediate calcium signaling and MAP kinase activation in individual hippocampal neurons. Brain Research 1379:34-43.
- Wyckoff MH, Chambliss KL, Mineo C, Yuhanna IS, Mendelsohn ME, Mumby SM, Shaul PW (2001) Plasma membrane estrogen receptors are coupled to endothelial nitric-oxide synthase through Galpha(i). J Biol Chem 276:27071-27076.
- Yaffe K, Sawaya G, Lieberburg I, Grady D (1998) Estrogen therapy in postmenopausal women: Effects on cognitive function and dementia. Journal of the American Medical Association 279:688-695.
- Yaffe K, Barnes D, Lindquist K, Cauley J, Simonsick EM, Penninx B, Satterfield S, Harris T, Cummings SR (2007) Endogenous sex hormone levels and risk of cognitive decline in an older biracial cohort. Neurobiology of Aging 28:171-178.
- Yuede CM, Dong H, Csernansky JG (2007) Anti-dementia drugs and hippocampaldependent memory in rodents. Behav Pharmacol 18:347-363.
- Zandi PP, Carlson MC, Plassman BL, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Mayer LS, Steffens DC, Breitner JCS (2002) Hormone replacement therapy and incidence of Alzheimer disease in older women. Journal of the American Medical Association 288:2123-2129.
- Zhao Z, Fan L, Frick KM (2010) Epigenetic alterations regulate estradiol-induced enhancement of memory consolidation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:5605-5610.
- Zhao Z, Fan L, Fortress AM, Boulware MI, Frick KM (2012) Hippocampal histone acetylation regulates object recognition and the estradiol-induced enhancement of object recognition. J Neurosci 32:2344-2351.